No. 71951-3-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ZHAOYUN XIA, et al.

Appellant,

vs.

PROBUILDERS SPECIALITY INSURANCE COMPANY RRG, et al.,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT
FOR KING COUNTY
THE HONORABLE CAROL SCHAPIRA

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

KILPATRICK LAW GROUP, PC

By: Howard M. Goodfriend
WSBA No. 14355

By: Dick B. Kilpatrick
WSBA No. 7058

1619 8th Avenue North
Seattle, WA 98109
(206) 624-0974

1750 112th Ave. N.E., Suite D-155
Bellevue, WA 98004
(425) 453-8161

Attorneys for Appellant

2014 NOV 17 AM 9:22

COURT OF APPEALS
STATE OF WASHINGTON

W

I. INTRODUCTION

The developer of single family zero lot line fee simple homes gave its liability insurer prompt notice of a claim by a home purchaser who suffered severe carbon monoxide poisoning when the new home's gas hot water heater was not connected to an exterior vent. With little investigation, the insurer summarily and definitively rejected coverage and refused to defend, relying on the policy's exclusion for completed work at a "condominium or townhouse" (terms that were not defined by the policy), and on the policy's "pollution" exclusion. The purchaser's lawyer sent the insurer the complaint filed against the insured developer, and then, two years later, at the direction of the developer's own retained counsel, notified the insurer that unless it provided a defense to its insured within 30 days, the developer would finalize a settlement agreeing to a stipulated covenant judgment and assigning its claims against the insurer to the purchaser. Rather than defending under a reservation of rights, the insurer on both occasions reiterated its position that the condominium/townhouse and pollution exclusions categorically excluded the claims from coverage.

Thereafter, the purchaser and developer finalized their settlement; the reasonableness of the \$2 million consent judgment

was confirmed at a hearing in which the insurer declined to participate. In defending the assigned bad faith claim, the insurer for the first time claimed it had no duty to defend because the developer had never formally tendered the claim. The trial court dismissed the bad faith claim on summary judgment, citing the “selective tender” rule and the condominium/townhouse exclusion.

The trial court erred because an insurer that receives notice of a claim and lawsuit must prove prejudice before it can rely on its insured’s alleged failure to formally tender. Washington courts have never applied the “selective tender” rule to an insurer that has previously rejected coverage of a tendered claim. The condominium/townhouse exclusion did not apply because the purchaser’s single family residence, owned in fee, did not share a common wall with the neighboring residence and had no elements of common ownership. The pollution exclusion was also inapplicable because the injury was caused not by a pollutant, but by the negligent installation of a hot water heater.

Because the insurer denied a defense outright when coverage was plausible, it is estopped to deny coverage and is liable for its insured’s reasonable settlement. This Court should reverse and direct entry of judgment against the insurer respondent ProBuilders

Specialty Insurance Co., RRG, and in favor of appellant Zhaoyun “Julia” Xia, assignee of the insured Issaquah Highlands 48, LLC.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The trial court erred in entering its Order Granting Defendant ProBuilders Specialty Insurance Company RRG’s Motion for Summary Judgment and in denying Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment. (CP 1297-1300) (Appendix A)

III. ISSUES RELATED TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

A. A liability insurer unequivocally rejected coverage and a defense after its insured sought its assistance by providing notice of a claim, again denied coverage and refused to defend when the insurer received a copy of the summons and complaint against its insured, and refused a third opportunity to defend before its insured settled with the injured claimant. Did the trial court err in holding the insurer did not breach its duty to defend on the ground that the insured did not formally request a defense?

B. Does a liability policy’s exclusion for bodily injury arising from work on a “condominium or townhouse” (terms that are undefined in the policy) allow an insurer to refuse to defend a developer sued for negligent installation of a hot water heater in a

single family residence, owned in fee, unattached to the adjoining residence by common or shared walls, and having no other elements of common ownership?

C. Does a liability policy's exclusion for bodily injury caused by the "discharge . . . , release or escape of pollutants" excuse the insurer's failure to defend a developer sued for negligent installation of a hot water heater resulting in plaintiff's carbon monoxide poisoning?

D. Did the insurer breach its good faith duty to defend by denying coverage on the basis of exclusions that do not clearly bar coverage with only a perfunctory factual investigation and without any attempt to determine whether Washington law supported its interpretation of the policy?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. ProBuilders insured Issaquah Highlands for its construction of zero lot line single family fee simple homes.

In June 2004, Issaquah Highlands 48, LLC obtained a building permit for construction of a single family residence at 2558 NE Magnolia St. in Issaquah. (CP 339) Two years later, in May 2006, appellant Zhaoyun "Julia" Xia purchased this residence, part of Issaquah Highland's development of 50 single family zero lot line

fee homes. (CP 278, 660) In its building permit and related documents, the City described the residence as single family attached (“SFA”) (CP 339) or “single-family, zero lot line” (CP 983), as well as “Single family attached (fee simple).” (CP 341) Issaquah Highlands described the Villagio development as “fee simple attached affordable townhouse units.” (CP 343)

Issaquah Highlands had previously developed attached residences as condominiums, but after it was sued on five developments by homeowners’ associations alleging construction defects, its president Wes Giesbrecht chose to build only zero lot line single family fee homes, rather than condominiums. (CP 896-97) Zero lot line fee homes do not have the elements of common ownership that define a “condominium” under Washington’s Condominium Act, RCW ch. 64.34. (CP 176-77) The homeowner owns the underlying land, the structure and the sky above it in fee simple. (CP 177)

Zero lot line fee homes also have significant physical differences from condominiums or townhomes, as a zero lot line home does not share a common wall with an adjoining residence. (CP 176-77) Instead, zero lot line fee homes have adjacent side walls separated by a narrow air gap through which the lot line runs.

(CP 176-77) While such homes can appear to be a single building, they are attached only with continuous siding and roofing, and are structurally and fully self contained, with a one-inch space between the walls. (CP 323 (“you could tear one down without affecting the other”); 330-31, 864).

Issaquah Highlands’ president Giesbrecht also was very familiar with the tight insurance market for condominium builders when he sought liability insurance for the project in 2004. (CP 896-97) Mr. Giesbrecht consulted with insurance agent Treacy Duerfeldt, a wholesale surplus line agent, regarding his company’s insurance needs for the Villagio project. (CP 328, 897) Mr. Duerfeldt assisted Issaquah Highlands in filling out an insurance application in which Issaquah Highlands disclosed the five previous lawsuits brought by condominium homeowners’ associations. (CP 369)

Joseph Sacotte, a principal of the developer, then sought coverage and quotes on behalf of Issaquah Highlands from multiple carriers and agents. (CP 328) Respondent ProBuilders Specialty Insurance Company RRG is a liability insurer for the construction industry. ProBuilders and its president Peter Foley were aware of the differences between fee simple zero lot line residences and

townhome or condominium residences with shared ownership, which ProBuilders would only insure on a project by project basis. (CP 860)

Mr. Sacotte talked directly to Mr. Duerfelt, to Dave Lambin, a partner in ProBuilders, and to a representative in ProBuilders' underwriting department. (CP 328) Mr. Sacotte ultimately agreed to coverage with ProBuilders. (CP 328) Mr. Duerfeldt advised Mr. Giesbrecht that the zero lot line homes were correctly classified as single family homes and that ProBuilders would provide liability coverage for the project. (CP 330, 897)

Effective July 7, 2005, ProBuilders issued a Commercial General Liability policy with coverage of \$1 million per occurrence and an aggregate limit of \$2 million. (CP 347) Issaquah Highlands paid ProBuilders a significant annual premium that increased from \$35,806 in 2005 to \$70,565 in 2006 and that was adjustable upwards based on Issaquah Highlands' gross receipts. (CP 347, 569) ProBuilders or its risk management contractor NBIS inspected the Issaquah Highlands building site shortly after issuing its 2005 policy and annually thereafter. (CP 326, 860)

B. Julia Xia was severely disabled by carbon monoxide poisoning from an improperly vented hot water heater in her Issaquah Highlands home.

Julia Xia, then age 34, purchased a newly completed Issaquah Highlands home at Villagio in May 2006. (CP 393-94, 660) Ms. Xia, an American citizen with an MBA and a Masters in Electrical Engineering, worked as a software engineer making more than \$100,000 a year. (CP 661) By September 2006, however, Ms. Xia began suffering headaches, chronic fatigue and chest pain. (CP 660-61) As her symptoms worsened, she complained of cognitive and verbal impairment, depression, insomnia and heart palpitations. (CP 660-61)

Ms. Xia was eventually diagnosed with carbon monoxide poisoning. (CP 661) In December 2006, Puget Sound Energy discovered the problem: the gas hot water heater placed inside her Issaquah Highlands home was not connected to the external exhaust vent when it was installed by subcontractor Extreme Heating, working under Issaquah Highland's direct supervision and control. (CP 191, 195 (photos), 661) The carbon monoxide level in Ms. Xia's home exceeded the maximum exposure set by OSHA and was sufficient to cause severe health problems. (CP 198-201)

Carbon monoxide poisoning destroyed Ms. Xia's professional and personal life. She could not perform as a high functioning professional because her verbal and processing impairment rendered her unable to multitask or comprehend instructions unless they were broken down and repeated. (CP 683-84, 990) She could no longer enjoy recreational pursuits such as swimming and yoga. (CP 661) Ms. Xia's physician deemed her injuries irreversible, and in 2009, the Social Security Administration adjudicated Ms. Xia disabled from a cognitive disorder due to carbon monoxide poisoning. (CP 990, 683-85) Ms. Xia was forced to abandon her life and work in the United States and return to her native China to live with her parents. (CP 662)

C. Issaquah Highlands tendered Ms. Xia's damage claim to ProBuilders, which summarily denied the claim and refused to defend.

On June 26, 2007, Ms. Xia gave written notice to Issaquah Highlands of her personal injury claim, attaching her medical records, and asking Issaquah Highlands to forward "the documents to your liability insurance company." (CP 487) Issaquah Highlands' president Giesbrecht sent the claim to agent Duerfeldt, who on behalf of Issaquah Highlands forwarded the claim to ProBuilders' agent, providing the name of the insured, the

ProBuilders policy number, and referencing Ms. Xia's "Zero Lot Line Home." (CP 485-86, 898) NBIS Claims & Risk Management, ProBuilders' claims administrator, acknowledged receipt of the claim on July 23, 2007. (CP 483-84)

ProBuilders/NBIS made little attempt to investigate Ms. Xia's claim and performed almost no investigation before denying coverage. On September 11, 2007, the adjuster's activity log notes "no contact has been made with insd. or clmt." (CP 256) In the weeks that followed, NBIS sought Ms. Xia's medical records and a list of subcontractors from Issaquah Highlands, but did not undertake any factual investigation of Ms. Xia's carbon monoxide poisoning, how it occurred, or the nature of the zero lot line fee residences built by its insured. (CP 256, 898)

Instead, ProBuilders/NBIS focused its efforts on denying coverage under its policy exclusions. (CP 257-58) On November 28, 2007, the NBIS supervisor overruled its adjuster's recommendation that ProBuilders send a reservation of rights letter and directed the adjuster to send a "tender letter . . . to [Subcontractor Extreme Heating] . . . on behalf of insd. as a courtesy." (CP 257-58) On January 17, 2008, NBIS notified Issaquah Highlands that ProBuilders "will neither defend nor

indemnify Issaquah . . . [from] any judgment or settlement.” (CP 285)

In denying coverage and a defense, NBIS/ProBuilders relied on the policy’s “Pollution Exclusion”¹ and “Condominium or Townhouse Liability Exclusion.”² NBIS/ProBuilders had not determined whether Ms. Xia’s home was constructed with common walls, had done no legal research concerning interpretation of a pollution exclusion under Washington law (CP 213, 899), and the

¹ **Bodily injury, property damage, or personal injury** caused by, resulting from, attributable to, contributed to, or aggravated by the actual, alleged or threatened discharge, dispersal, seepage, migration, release or escape of **pollutants**, or from the presence of, or exposure to, **pollution** of any form whatsoever, and regardless of the cause of the **pollution** or **pollutants**.

This Exclusion applies regardless of the cause of the **pollution** and whether any other cause of said **bodily injury property damage, or personal injury** acted jointly, concurrently or in any sequence with said **pollutants** or **pollution**. This Exclusion applies whether any other cause of the **bodily injury, property damage, or personal injury** would otherwise, be covered under this insurance.

(CP 334) (emphasis in original)

² (1) **Property damage or bodily injury** within the **products-completed operations hazard** arising from, related to or in any way connected with **your work or your product** which is, is part of or is incorporated into or upon a condominium, or townhouse project, or to **personal injury or advertising injury** arising or resulting from **your** operations performed upon, at or for a condominium or townhouse project.

(CP 337) (emphasis in original)

January 2008 letter denying coverage provided no analysis why either of these exclusions applied to Ms. Xia's claim. (CP 281-82) Nor did NBIS' June 2008 notification to ProBuilders' insured and to Ms. Xia, now represented by counsel. (CP 414-19, 898) The letter flatly stated that ProBuilders "will neither defend nor indemnify Issaquah," and directed Ms. Xia's counsel to contact NBIS "if a lawsuit is filed." (CP 414-19)

Her claim having been summarily denied, Ms. Xia filed suit against Issaquah Highlands. As NBIS had requested, Ms. Xia's lawyer sent NBIS a copy of her complaint against Issaquah Highlands on January 27, 2009, informing the insurer that the summons and complaint had been sent out for service and filing in King County Superior Court that day. (CP 112) In February 2009, NBIS reopened its file, noting that ProBuilders' insured Issaquah Highlands was "to be served shortly." (CP 265) NBIS and ProBuilders made no effort to contact its insured.

When Mr. Giesbrecht was served, he immediately gave the summons and complaint to Mr. Duerfeldt to forward to ProBuilders, as he had done with Ms. Xia's initial claim. (CP 898, 901) In light of ProBuilders' unqualified rejection of a defense and coverage, Mr. Giesbrecht also retained attorney Michael Scruggs to

represent Issaquah Highlands in defending Ms. Xia's claim. (CP 898) Mr. Scruggs, cognizant of ProBuilders' position, tendered the complaint to subcontractor Extreme Heating and to its insurer American States. (CP 136, 258, 898) American States also refused to defend Issaquah Highlands. (CP 898)

NBIS/ProBuilders did nothing on the reopened claim for seven months until a new adjuster, noting the lack of activity on the file, asked for authority to run a Westlaw search to "confirm" that Ms. Xia's residence was a "Townhome or Condominium." (CP 266-67) On September 24, 2009, the adjuster spoke with Ms. Xia's counsel, Nik Armitage, and reiterated ProBuilders' denial of coverage for Ms. Xia's claim. (CP 267) The next day, NBIS's search reported that Ms. Xia's residence was listed as a "single family residence – townhouse" in King County Assessor records. (CP 54, 268) On October 19, 2009, an NBIS supervisor logged that Ms. Xia's complaint was excluded because the "matter involves a condo project and our insured is being defended." (CP 269) NBIS closed its claim file for the second time, and ProBuilders gave its insured Issaquah Highlands no reason to believe that it would change its coverage position or provide a defense.

D. Issaquah Highlands agreed to a covenant settlement after giving its insurer one last opportunity to defend. ProBuilders again refused to defend or cover the claim based solely on the condominium/townhouse and pollution exclusions.

Attorney Scruggs appeared and answered Ms. Xia's complaint on behalf of Issaquah Highlands. (CP 899, 905) Ms. Xia's lawyer Armitage approached Mr. Scruggs about a settlement that would involve a covenant not to execute a stipulated judgment and an assignment of Issaquah Highlands' rights against ProBuilders. (CP 905) Issaquah Highlands was amenable to a settlement but, wishing to avoid the adverse consequences of a covenant judgment and the appearance of collusion, insisted on giving ProBuilders one last opportunity to defend and cover the claim. (CP 900, 905-06) On September 21, 2010, Mr. Scruggs sent Mr. Armitage a draft of a letter to ProBuilders demanding that the insurer change its position. (CP 905, 909-10)

Mr. Armitage wrote ProBuilders on December 23, 2010, enclosing a draft settlement agreement in which Issaquah Highlands would consent to a \$2 million stipulated judgment and assign all its claims against ProBuilders to Ms. Xia in exchange for a covenant not to execute. (CP 297-99, 905, 912-14, 941-51) Mr. Armitage gave ProBuilders 30 days to acknowledge coverage and

defend its insured before the parties would finalize the settlement by seeking a judicial determination of the reasonableness of a \$2 million stipulated judgment. (CP 914) On January 12, 2011, an NBIS adjuster called Mr. Armitage and reiterated ProBuilders' unequivocal denial of coverage based on the condominium/townhouse and pollution exclusions. (CP 301, 906) The adjuster did not contend that Issaquah Highlands had failed to tender the lawsuit. (CP 900)

Issaquah Highlands and Ms. Xia gave notice of their reasonableness hearing to NBIS/ProBuilders. (CP 304) ProBuilders did not appear and did not oppose the settlement. (CP 900) Judge Susan Craighead approved the reasonableness of the \$2 million settlement on February 7, 2011. (CP 303-09)

Before filing this action Ms. Xia gave ProBuilders a final chance to indemnify Issaquah Highlands for her damages. In May 2011, Ms. Xia, as assignee of Issaquah Highlands, served notice of intent to sue under the Insurance Fair Conduct Act, giving ProBuilders 20 days to "adjust this claim or face suit for damages." (CP 1414-18) In response, ProBuilders repeated that it had previously made a final determination of no coverage (CP 313), maintaining that "all damages appear to be subject to the pollution

exclusion and certainly the condominium/townhouse exclusion, thus leaving no potential for coverage.” (CP 318) ProBuilders again did not contend that Issaquah Highlands had failed to tender the lawsuit.

E. The trial court dismissed Ms. Xia’s bad faith lawsuit based on failure to tender and the condominium/townhouse exclusion.

Ms. Xia, as assignee of Issaquah Highlands, sued ProBuilders for bad faith, negligence, breach of contract, and violation of the CPA and IFCA in King County Superior Court on June 8, 2011. (CP 1-20) The parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment, argued before Judge Carol Schapira (“the trial court”) on November 2, 2012 and December 20, 2013. (CP 1297) ProBuilders sought dismissal on three grounds, arguing that the condominium/ townhouse and pollution exclusions each precluded coverage as a matter of law and that “Issaquah Highlands never disputed [ProBuilders'] declination of coverage nor did they make a tender of defense” (CP 24)

On April 16, 2014, the trial court dismissed the lawsuit with prejudice on the ground that “the townhouse exclusion properly applied and excluded all coverage” so that ProBuilders’ initial denial of coverage and defense in January 2008 was correct, and

that “there was no request for a defense of the suit from or on behalf of the insureds to Defendant ProBuilders.” (CP 1299)

Ms. Xia appeals both the order granting ProBuilders summary judgment and the denial of her own motion for summary judgment. (CP 1301-06)

V. ARGUMENT

A. This Court reviews de novo the trial court’s decision, narrowly construing exclusions and imposing a duty to defend any claims that conceivably fall within the scope of ProBuilders’ policy.

This Court reviews de novo the trial court’s summary judgment that ProBuilders had no duty to defend as a matter of law. *Smith v. Safeco Ins. Co.*, 150 Wn.2d 478, 483, 78 P.3d 1274 (2003). This Court interprets de novo insurance policy provisions. *American Best Food, Inc. v. Alea London, Ltd.*, 168 Wn.2d 398, 404, ¶ 5, 229 P.3d 693 (2010).

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