No. 71951-3-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ZHAOYUN XIA, et al.,

Appellant,

v.

PBSIC SPECIALTY INSURANCE COMPANY RRG, et al.,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT PBSIC SPECIALTY INSURANCE COMPANY RRG

STEPHEN G. SKINNER, WSBA #17317 ANDREWS • SKINNER, P.S. 645 Elliott Avenue West, Suite 350 Seattle, WA 98119 206-223-9248/ Fax: 206-623-9050

Attorney for Respondent PBSIC Specialty Insurance Company RRG

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

Further, Ms. Xia submitted an expert report analyzing the toxicity of carbon monoxide and the negative effects of carbon monoxide exposure on human health. CP at 141. Citing multiple sources, the report stated that, depending on the concentration of carbon monoxide in the air, symptoms of exposure can range from mild headache, fatigue, nausea, and dizziness to death. CP at 148-50. Accordingly, it is clear that an average person purchasing insurance would understand that the pollution exclusion clause unambiguously denied coverage for Ms. Xia's injuries. See Cook, 83 Wn. App. at 153.

¹¹ See also CP at 118-19.

ii. Washington courts have consistently held that pollution exclusions bar coverage in similar cases

Not only does the plain language of the pollution exclusion clearly apply to the carbon monoxide-related injuries at issue in this case, but Washington law interpreting such exclusions dictates the same result. Washington courts have repeatedly affirmed the applicability of nearly identical pollution exclusions to injuries sustained as a result of hazardous airborne toxins. See *Quadrant Corp. v. Am. States Ins. Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 165, 182, 110 P.3d 733 (2005) (pollution exclusion barred coverage for personal injuries sustained by tenant resulting from fumes from waterproofing material); *City of Bremerton v. Harbor Ins. Co.*, 92 Wn. App. 17, 24, 963 P.2d 194 (1998) (pollution exclusion barred coverage for claims based on emission of toxic fumes from municipal sewage treatment plant); *Cook*, 83 Wn. App. at 157 (pollution exclusion applied to respiratory injuries sustained when fumes from concrete sealant entered building).

This court first interpreted a pollution exclusion in *Cook*, where this court held that an exclusion nearly identical to that in the present case barred claims for respiratory injuries resulting from sealant fumes applied to the outside of a building. 83 Wn. App. at 154. This court held that the policy "language is not ambiguous on its face and there are not two

reasonable interpretations." *Id.* In so holding, the court rejected the plaintiffs' argument that the exclusion was intended to apply only to traditional environmental pollution based on the exclusion's drafting history. *Id.* The court reasoned that "[a] party can present drafting history to assist in determining a reasonable construction *after* the court finds a clause ambiguous, ... [w]e cannot use the drafting history to find the clause ambiguous." *Id.* at 156.

Ms. Xia nevertheless makes the same arguments regarding the pollution exclusion's drafting history that this court rejected in *Cook*, relying entirely on the Washington Supreme Court's ruling in *Kent Farms*, *Inc. v. Zurich Insurance Co.*, 140 Wn.2d 396, 402, 998 P.2d 292 (2000). In *Kent Farms*, a fuel deliveryman was injured when he was sprayed with fuel while trying to remedy a fuel leak resulting from a faulty shutoff valve. 140 Wn.2d at 397-98. The Court held that although the fuel could be a "pollutant" when released into the environment, it was not acting as a pollutant in the case of the fuel deliveryman because the fuel injured him when it hit him with force, causing it to enter his lungs and stomach. *Id.* at 401-02.

¹² The court further recognized that cases in other jurisdictions had reached similar results, including one case involving carbon monoxide poisoning. *Cook*, 83 Wn. App. at 155 (citing *Bernhardt v. Hartford Fire Ins. Co.*, 102 Md. App. 45, 648 A.2d 1047 (1994)).

In *Quadrant Corp.*, the Washington Supreme Court subsequently made clear that Kent Farms did not overrule previous cases (see, e.g., Cook), in which courts had rejected the "environmental pollution" distinction. Rather, the Court held that the critical inquiry when determining the applicability of a pollution exclusion is whether the injury was primarily caused by the toxic character of the pollutant. 154 Wn.2d at 179. Thus, the Court held that a pollution exclusion barred coverage for personal injuries sustained by a tenant in an apartment building after a restoration company applied sealant to a nearby deck, causing toxic fumes to enter the apartment building. Id. In reaching this result, the Court distinguished Kent Farms, holding that in that case, "the offending substance's toxic character was not central to the injury" because in that case, the injured party "was not polluted by diesel fuel. It struck him; it engulfed him; it choked him. It did not pollute him." Id. at 182 (quoting Kent Farms, 140 Wn.2d at 401). By contrast, in Quadrant, the Court recognized that:

The Kaczor estate claims that she suffered bodily injury and property damage when the deck sealant fumes drifted or migrated into her apartment. ... The parties agree that the sealants at issue here, PC-220 and Polyglaze AL, contained TDI, a toxic substance which can irritate the respiratory tract and, in high concentrations, can cause central nervous system depression. The material safety data sheet for these products indicates that their ingredients are toxic and recommends precautions such as adequate

ventilation, respiratory protection, protective clothing, and eye protection. Furthermore, the Federal Clean Air Act lists TDI as a hazardous air pollutant. See 42 U.S.C. § 7412(b)(1). The contents of the sealant unambiguously fall within the policy definition of pollutant.

Id. at 180-81 (some citations omitted).

This case is clearly analogous to *Quadrant Corp.*, not *Kent Farms*. Here, as in *Quadrant*, the parties agree that carbon monoxide exposure, in certain concentrations, can cause serious bodily injury, including death. CP at 148-50. Further, the Washington Department of Ecology defines carbon monoxide as a "toxic air pollutant." WAC 173-460-150.¹³ Accordingly, the carbon monoxide in this case unambiguously falls within the policy definition of a pollutant. See *Quadrant*, 154 Wn.2d at 180-81.

Ms. Xia nevertheless argues that the present case falls under *Kent Farms*, not *Quadrant*, because unlike in *Quadrant*, the carbon monoxide here was not "a substance whose toxicity could cause injury even when used as intended." *Quadrant*, 154 Wn.2d at 179. She argues that carbon monoxide is not harmful in small quantities and that therefore her injuries would not have occurred if the water heater had been used as intended. Br. of Appellant at 39.

¹³ See *Quadrant Corp. v. Am. States Ins. Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 165, 181, 110 P.3d 733 (2005) (noting that the substance was classified under Federal Clean Air Act as a hazardous air pollutant).

However, the dispositive issue in *Kent Farms* was that the diesel fuel, when used as intended, was not a pollutant because it should not have been ingested and/or inhaled. Thus, it only became hazardous to human health because it was projected with force down the injured party's throat. By contrast, here, carbon monoxide is by definition an air pollutant, and Ms. Xia was injured by the carbon monoxide as such when she inhaled it. There is no claim in the present case that the carbon monoxide that injured Ms. Xia was acting as anything other than an airborne pollutant or that the cause of Ms. Xia's injuries was anything other than the toxicity of the carbon monoxide itself. Accordingly, Ms. Xia's attempt to distinguish *Quadrant* is misplaced.

Nevertheless, Ms. Xia argues that it was at the very least unclear under Washington law whether her claim fell under *Quadrant* or *Kent Farms*, thereby requiring PBSIC to resolve ambiguities in the law in Issaquah Highland's favor and defend. However, merely because there is conflicting case law on a particular topic does not create an ambiguity in the law. *Kent Farms* dealt with a liquid being forcibly propelled down the injured party's throat in a clearly unintended manner. By contrast, the present case involves an airborne toxin that caused injury by inhalation. Every Washington case involving a similar airborne pollutant has held that pollution exclusions nearly identical to the one in the present case have

applied. See *Quadrant*, 154 Wn.2d at 182; *City of Bremerton*, 92 Wn. App. 17; *Cook*, 83 Wn. App. 149. Accordingly, contrary to Ms. Xia's assertion, this is not a case involving an "arguable legal interpretation" of PBSIC's policy. Br. of Appellant at 43. Rather, this is a case in which the plain language of the policy and Washington law clearly and unambiguously bar coverage.

Because coverage is barred based on the facts alleged on the face of Ms. Xia's complaint under both the townhouse and pollution exclusions, the duty to defend was not triggered and the trial court properly dismissed Ms. Xia's duty to defend claim accordingly.

3. No duty to indemnify

"The duty to indemnify exists only if the policy *actually* covers the insured's liability." *Woo*, 161 Wn. 2d at 53. As discussed at length above, the unambiguous facts in this case show that coverage under the policy was clearly barred by both the townhouse and pollution exclusions. Accordingly, Ms. Xia's claim for breach of the duty to indemnify fails as a matter of law.

C. No Bad Faith

1. No bad faith premised on duty to defend or indemnify

An action for bad faith claims handling sounds in tort. Safeco Ins. Co. of Am. v. Butler, 118 Wn. 2d 383, 389, 823 P.2d 499 (1992). The

elements of a bad faith claim are the same as any tort: duty, breach of duty, harm, and damages proximately caused by any breach of duty. *St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Onvia, Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d 122, 130, 196 P.3d 644 (2008). Further, the breach must be "unreasonable, frivolous, or unfounded." *Id.* Reasonableness of an insurer's actions is a complete defense to a bad faith allegation. *Kim v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 153 Wn. App. 339, 356 n. 3, 223 P.3d 1180 (2010). In short, bad faith will not be found where a denial of coverage or a failure to provide a defense is based upon a reasonable interpretation of the insurance policy. *Kirk v. Mt. Airy Ins. Co.*, 134 Wn.2d 558, 951 P.2d 1124 (1998). Moreover, the insurer is relieved of the duty when alleged claims are clearly not covered by the policy. *Id.*

Claims for bad faith failure to defend or indemnify can also be brought under the Insurance Fair Conduct Act (IFCA), chapter 48.30 RCW, and the Consumer Protection Act (CPA), chapter 19.86 RCW. IFCA imposes liability on insurers for unreasonably denying coverage. RCW 48.30.015. The Act also prohibits insurers from engaging in unfair trade practices, including those enumerated in WAC 284-30-330. RCW 48.30.010(1). A violation of RCW 48.30.010(1) constitutes a per se unfair or deceptive act or practice for the purposes of establishing a CPA claim. RCW 19.86.170; *Indust. Indem. Co. v. Kallevig*, 114 Wn.2d 907, 923, 792

P.2d 420 (1990).

Here, as discussed at length above, even when construing the complaint liberally, there was clearly no coverage under the insurance policy at issue based on both the townhouse exclusion and the pollution exclusion. All evidence available to PBSIC at the time it learned of Ms. Xia's claim dictated that her unit was a townhouse for the purposes of the policy exclusion, including all relevant municipal and county designations of the property as well as Ms. Xia's own characterizations of her unit. Clearly it was not unreasonable for PBSIC to determine that Ms. Xia's unit, which was consistently described as a "town home" or "town house" and which looked like a townhouse based on the common understanding of the term, was a "townhouse" for the purposes of the policy exclusion.

Further, it was clear to PBSIC at the time it learned of Ms. Xia's claim that the carbon monoxide that Ms. Xia inhaled was a "pollutant" under the policy based on the plain terms of the policy language. Where carbon monoxide is characterized as an airborne toxin by relevant regulations and where the allegations in Ms. Xia's claim stated that she suffered bodily injury from inhaling the substance, there was no reasonable argument against characterization of carbon monoxide as a "pollutant" under the policy's plain terms.

Moreover, as to both policy exclusions, Issaquah Highlands failed to present any information to "correct" PBSIC's reasonable interpretation of the policy exclusions after Issaguah Highlands received PBSIC's coverage position letter. Where the plain language of the policy exclusions barred coverage and where PBSIC's insured did not challenge PBSIC's clear position that no coverage existed, it was clearly reasonable for PBSIC to not only deny a defense and indemnity to Issaquah Highlands, but also to believe that Issaquah Highlands did not contest PBSIC's coverage position. This is particularly so where PBSIC explicitly requested that Issaquah Highlands (1) provide any additional information to PBSIC that Issaquah Highlands believed bore on PBSIC's coverage interpretation and (2) requested that Issaquah Highlands provide PBSIC with notice if a complaint was filed. CP at 286. Issaquah Highlands did neither and, therefore, PBSIC reasonably believed not only that no challenge to its coverage position existed, but also that no defense was being sought by Issaquah Highlands. Therefore, any bad faith claims based on the duties to defend or indemnify, whether at common law, under IFCA, or under the CPA, are without merit.

Ms. Xia also argues that because PBSIC breached its duty to defend and indemnify in bad faith, Issaquah Highlands was entitled to coverage by estoppel. "Where an insurer acts in bad faith in failing to

defend, ... coverage by estoppel is one appropriate remedy." *Kirk*, 134 Wn.2d at 563. However, because, as discussed above, PBSIC's denial of defense and indemnity was based on a reasonable interpretation of the policy language, there can be no bad faith and, therefore, no coverage by estoppel. See *Mut. of Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. T&G Const., Inc.*, 165 Wn.2d 255, 267 n. 4, 199 P.3d 376 (2008) ("coverage by estoppel is only applicable when the insurer acts in bad faith").

2. No IFCA claims independent of duty to defend or indemnify

Ms. Xia also claims that PBSIC violated IFCA independent of any duty to defend or indemnify. Br. of Appellant at 46-47. Specifically, she argues that (1) PBSIC failed to conduct a reasonable investigation before denying coverage for Ms. Xia's claim, in violation of WAC 284-30-330(4); and (2) PBSIC failed to complete its investigation within thirty days after notification of the claim, in violation of WAC 284-30-370. Br. of Appellant at 46-47.

"An appeals court will not review an issue, theory, argument, or claim of error not presented at the trial court level." *Rash v. Providence Health Servs.*, __ Wn. App. __, __, 334 P.3d 1154, 1161 (Sept. 16, 2014); (citing RAP 2.5(a)); see also *Washburn v. Beatt Equip. Co.*, 120 Wn.2d 246, 290, 840 P.2d 860 (1992) ("Arguments or theories not presented to

the trial court will generally not be considered on appeal."). The rule dictates that "[a] party must inform the court of the rules of law it wishes the court to apply and offer the trial court an opportunity to correct any error." *Evans v. Mercado*, __ Wn. App. __, __, 338 P.3d 285, 288 (Nov. 17, 2014). The purpose of the rule is to "give the trial court an opportunity to correct errors and avoid unnecessary rehearings." *Rash*, 334 P.3d at 1161. The purpose of RAP 2.5(a) is met "where the issue is advanced below and the trial court has an opportunity to consider and rule on relevant authority." *Washburn*, 120 Wn.2d at 291.

Before the trial court on summary judgment, Ms. Xia's argument was limited to a claim for bad faith breach of the duties to defend and indemnify. Although she asserted as part of those arguments that PBSIC's investigation was improper, she at no point argued that PBSIC breached any IFCA provision giving rise to an independent claim for liability. See CP at 245-48. Accordingly, the purpose of RAP 2.5(a) was not met because the issue was not advanced below. See *Washburn*, 120 Wn.2d at 291. Further, Ms. Xia at no point presented to the trial court the specific WAC provisions she now claims constitute independent IFCA violations. Thus, Ms. Xia failed to give the trial court the opportunity to rule on the relevant authority and she may not now obtain a rehearing on her summary judgment motion based on issues she did not give the trial court

the opportunity to consider. See *id.*; *Rash*, 334 P.3d at 1161. Accordingly, this court should reject Ms. Xia's arguments regarding independent IFCA violations for failure to preserve them on appeal under RAP 2.5(a).

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